THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED  
APR 02 2026  
SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Sebastien Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Administrative Law Court Docket No. 25-ALJ-04-0147-AP

Appellate Case No. 2025-002443

Vincent Allen, #194611,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Vincent Allen, #194611  
Tyger River Correctional  
Institution Unit 1-B-228-A  
200 Prison Road  
Enoree, S.C. 29335

Appellant, Pro Se

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the ALC erred in holding that S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D)(2024) supersedes or eliminates SCDC's obligation under federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c), to pay inmates the prevailing wage in the PIECP, where federal law expressly requires payment of prevailing wages as a condition of certification?
- II. Whether the ALC committed reversible error by relying on inapplicable precedent (SCDC v. Cartrette) and by refusing to apply the Supremacy Clause to resolve the conflict between state and federal PIECP wage mandates?
- III. Whether the ALC violated SCALC Rule 58 and Appellant's due process rights by refusing to order supplementation of the record with essential documents, (current payroll history, DEW wage data, and Appellant's SOC Code), then penalizing Appellant for lack of presenting a sufficient record, which the court itself denied?
- IV. Whether the ALC erred in affirming (explicitly or implicitly), that Appellant's post-settlement wage claim was barred by prior settlement resolving earlier and distinct backpay period, where the claims concern separate time periods and federal law prohibits waiver of statutory prevailing wage rights?
- V. Whether the ALC erred in concluding (explicitly or implicitly), that Appellant lacks a continuing property interest in prevailing wages guaranteed by federal law and incorporated into SCDC's PIECP certification and contractual obligations?
- VI. Whether the ALC acted arbitrary, capricious, and without substantial evidence in affirming SCDC's decision based on deference rather than independent judicial review?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant in the instant matter, Vincent Allen ("Appellant"), is an inmate incarcerated with the Respondent South Carolina Department of Corrections ("Department" or "SCDC"). While housed at Tyger River Correctional Institution ("TYRCI"), a prison operated by the SCDC, Appellant began participating in a federally certified Prison Industry Enhancement Certification Program ("PIECP"), in which Shaw Industries Group, Inc. ("Shaw") participates as the private industry sponsor.

On September 9, 2024, Appellant settled a prior backpay claim for the PIECP prevailing wages with SCDC. Under that Settlement, SCDC paid Appellant

the difference between wages he was previously paid and the prevailing wage for the time period of December 7, 2015 up to the settlement date.

Thereafter, on October 31, 2024, Appellant filed a new and distinct Step One grievance, wherein he specifically requested that "my wages be adjusted to reflect an hourly wage as determined by the DEW, not less than those paid and provided for work of similar nature in the locality in which the work is performed.". On November 20, 2024, SCDC denied Appellant's Step One Grievance, stating, "You allege that you are entitled to an increase in current wages in the Prison Industries Program to reflect Prevailing Wage. You have requested an adjustment in wage in accordance with DEW. The inmate pay statute, S.C. Code 24-3-430(D), was amended effective May 21, 2024, to eliminate the language requiring that inmates be paid the prevailing wage. Therefore, from that date forward, if you are working for a qualifying PIECP within Prison Industries and make the federal minimum wage or higher, you are being paid lawfully."

Subsequently, on November 26, 2024, Appellant filed his Step Two Grievance with SCDC, asserting in pertinent part that the "Supremacy Clause of the US Constitution and provides that any state law that conflicts with federal law is "without effect"". In response to Appellant's Step Two Grievance, on March 21, 2025, SCDC reiterated its position as stated prior in its denial of Appellant's Step One Grievance denial.

Thereafter, on March 25, 2025, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court ("ALC"), appealing the Department's final decision. The case was assigned on April 10, 2025, to the Honorable Sebastien Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge. By Motion dated June 12, 2025, SCDC moved the ALC to dismiss the Appellant's case, asserting that the matter should be dismissed because Appellant and the Department

settled on September 9, 2024, and the funds had been deposited into Appellant's E.H. Cooper Account. In response, on June 23, 2025, Appellant filed his Appellant's Objection to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Then, on July 8, 2025, the ALC entered its Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

On July 31, 2025, SCDC filed the Record on Appeal, containing only Appellant's Step One and Step Two Grievances and their Responses. On August 11, 2025, Appellant filed his Motion to Compel Respondent to Supplement the Record Due to its Incompleteness and Extension of Time to File Brief. In response to Appellant's motion, the ALC issued its Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Supplement the Record and Granting Motion [to] Extend Time.

Thereafter, on September 19, 2025, Appellant filed his Initial Brief to the ALC. SCDC filed its Respondent's Brief on October 13, 2025. Then, on October 20, 2025, Appellant filed his Reply Brief. On November 12, 2025 the Honorable Sebastien Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge, issued his Final Order, affirming SCDC's decision. Therefore, and in response to the ALC's November 12, 2025 "Final Order", on December 5, 2025, Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on the Department.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate review of the ALC's decisions is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610. Pursuant to this section, Reversal is required where the decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record;

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-610(B)(a), (c) - (f).

The Court review legal questions de novo, including interpretation of federal law, preemption, and constitutional claims.

#### ARGUMENT

I. **THE ALC ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY CONCLUDING THAT THE 2024 AMENDMENT TO § 24-3-430(D) ELIMINATES SCDC'S FEDERAL OBLIGATION TO PAY THE PREVAILING WAGE**

In 1935, Congress enacted the Ashurst-Sumners Act, now codified at 18 U.S.C. § 1761(a). This federal law generally prohibits the transportation in interstate commerce of goods, wares, and merchandise produced by prisoners. In Harker v. State Use Industries, 990 F.2d 131 (4th Cir. 1993), the Fourth Circuit, noting that the Ashurst-Sumners Act "criminalizes the transport of prison-made goods in interstate commerce in ... those situations in which prison labor threatens competition." (emphasis added). However, an exception to the scope of the Ashurst-Sumners' prohibition and criminalization is available for prisoners participating in a work pilot project administered by the Bureau of Justice Assistance ("BJA"), an agency of the Department of Justice. 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c). Pursuant to the federal statute authorizing the PIECP, inmates participating in such programs must have "received wages at a rate which is not less than that paid for work of a similar nature in the locality in which the work was performed." Id. § 1761(c)(2). This is the prevailing wage standard. It is a condition of federal certification, mandatory, and cannot be reduced or waived by a state statute.

Additionally, the PIECP Guidelines issued by the BJA and published in the Federal Register, likewise requires that states participating in the PIECP must pay participating inmate workers the prevailing wage. There it is stated

that "[p]revailing wage verification must be obtained by the appropriate state agency which determines wage rates (usually the Department of Economic Security)." 64 Fed. Reg. 17000-14 (Apr. 7, 1999). In South Carolina the wage setting agency would now be the Department of Employment and Workforce. In the absence of such verification, the program participant is "responsible for establishing a reasonable prevailing wage." Id. The participant must then retain on file for the BJA's review "relevant wage data from a sufficient number of competitors in the locality," "data analysis for determining a reasonable prevailing wage result," and "if possible, a written assessment of the reasonableness of the resulting prevailing wage determination by an appropriate state agency which normally determines wage rates." Id. The prevailing wage "cannot be set below the Federal minimum wage, as defined in the Fair Labor Standards Act." Id. "Payment of minimum wage, however, does not automatically achieve compliance with the prevailing wage requirement unless the prevailing wage for the comparable private-sector industries is, in fact, the Federal minimum wage." Id. The PIECP Guidelines repeatedly clarified the binding federal conditions that certified programs must pay the prevailing wage and continue paying it to all PIECP inmate workers.

In its Step One Grievance response, SCDC denied its requirement to pay Appellant the prevailing wage because "S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D), was amended effective May 21, 2024, to eliminate the language requiring that inmates be paid the prevailing wage." (R. p. 14). SCDC reiterated this position in response to Appellant's Step Two Grievance. (R. p. 11). SCDC relied upon this same argument in its Brief before the ALC. (R. pp. 27 - 28). But SCDC is well aware that payment of the minimum wage "does not automatically achieve compliance with the prevailing wage requirement." 64

Fed. Reg. 17000-14. In his brief to the ALC, Appellant not only cited the above PIECP Guideline, but also attached a printed copy of it to his brief. (R. p. 20; R. pp. 49 - 67).

Additionally, Appellant attached a copy of the SCDC's contract with the private industries sponsor Shaw. (R. pp. 22 - 23; R. pp. 68 - 82). In his brief to the ALC, Appellant specified the following four (4) places of the SCDC / Shaw Contract, where he argued, (1) [R. p. 73] § 3.2.1, SCDC agreed to pay inmates consistent with wage data provided to SCDC on an annual basis by the DEW; (2) [R. p. 74] paragraph 4, SCDC agreed that upon annual receipt of the wage data from the DEW, SCDC would notify Shaw in writing of any changes to the "Gross Hourly Inmate Pay Rate", and SCDC will then adjust the "Gross Hourly Inmate Pay Rate" reflected as necessary; (3) [R. p. 75] § 3.2.2, SCDC agreed to "operate [its prison industry] project [at Tyger River Correctional Institution] in accordance with "Private Sector/Prison Industries Enhancement Certificate" program [commonly known as the "PIE" program] for the United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice, ... The major requirements of the "PIE" program are outlined in Appendix C of this Agreement"; and (4) [R. p. 82] at APPENDIX C, stating, "Outline of requirements by the United States Department of Justice Private Sector/Prison Industries Enhancement Certificate" to be completed by SCDC" "South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce has provided written assurance that wages paid to inmates are similar in the locality to other workers of Federal minimum wage, **whichever is higher.**" (R. pp. 22 - 23; R. pp. 73 - 75, 82).

States participating in federal programs must comply with conditions of participating imposed by Congress or the administering agency. In Armstrong v.

Exceptional Child Center, Inc., 575 U.S. 320, 135 S.Ct. 1378, 191 L.Ed.2d 471 (2015), the Court recognized that federal conditions are enforceable against states. In Myers v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Human Services, 418 S.C. 608, 795 S.E.2d 301 (December 21, 2016), the South Carolina of Appeals stated, "Because the waive program is governed by federal statute, when a state elects to participate in the program, it **must comply with all federal Medicaid laws and regulations.**" (emphasis added).

Here, SCDC voluntarily elected to enter the federally certified PIECP, as authorized under 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c); repeatedly certified compliance, and executed contracts with its private industry sponsor Shaw, in which contracts SCDC expressly incorporated these mandatory federal wage conditions. Thus, confirming they are required and binding as a matter of federal law and contract law.

The ALC's "Final Decision" contradicts federal statute, federal guidelines, and contractual obligations SCDC voluntarily assumed. Such an error requires reversal under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(a), (d), & (e).

**II. THE ALC ERRED BY RELYING ON AN INAPPLICABLE PRECEDENT (SCDC V. CARTRETTE) AND BY REFUSING TO APPLY THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICT BETWEEN STATE AND FEDERAL PIECP WAGE MANDATES**

In his Step One Grievance, Appellant requested an adjustment of his PIECP wages to meet the prevailing wage as determined by the DEW. (R. p. 13). In its grievance response, SCDC stated to the effect, that as of May 21, 2024, it was no longer required to pay inmates working in the PIECP prevailing wage because of the amendments made to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D). (R. p. 14). Then, Appellant filed his Step Two Grievance, asserting that the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution provides that any state law that conflicts with federal law is "without effect". Appellant further indicated that the conflicting state law, 24-3-430(D)(as amended 2024), was preempted by federal law 18

U.S.C. § 1761(c) and PIECP Guideline. 64 Fed. Reg. 17000-14. (R. p. 11). In response, the Department reiterated its position, relying on the May 21, 2024 amendment made to 24-3-430(D). (R. p. 11).

The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution provides that federal law "shall be the Supreme Law of the Land ... any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding." U.S. Const. Art. VI, cl 2. Thus, any state law that conflicts with federal law is "without effect." See Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store, 385 S.C. 520, 684 S.E.2d 769 (July 15, 2009); Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc., 505 U.S. 504, 516, 112 S.Ct. 2608, 120 L.Ed.2d 407 (1992).

In both his Initial and Reply Briefs before the ALC, Appellant argued that South Carolina's 2024 amendment to § 24-3-430(D) conflict with both federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c) and PIECP Guideline (64 Fed. Reg. 17000-14); and under the Supremacy Clause, federal law governs when conflict exist. Therefore, Appellant respectfully urged the ALC to find 24-3-430(D)(as amended May 21, 2024) preempted and therefore unenforceable to the extent that it conflicts with federal PIECP requirements. (R. pp. 20 - 23; R. pp. 33 - 36). In all of SCDC's filings pertaining to this matter, both administratively and before the ALC, SCDC remained suspiciously quiet concerning the preemption doctrine. Nonetheless, in the ALC's November 12, 2025, "Final Order", the ALC stated, "On September 19, 2025 the Appellant filed his brief with the court arguing that state laws that conflict with the federal mandate to pay PIECP inmates the prevailing wage is "without effect." Thus, the Department must adjust the Appellant's wages to reflect the prevailing wage as determined by the Department of Employment and Workforce (DEW). On October 14, 2025, the Department filed its brief with the court arguing that the Appellant is not

entitled to the prevailing wage for his current work because S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430 was amended effective May 21, 2024 from "prevailing wage" to "federal minimum wage." Therefore, the Appellant is not entitled to the prevailing wage for his ongoing work in the PIECP. On October 22, 2025, the Appellant filed his Reply Brief with the court arguing that pursuant to the Supremacy Clause, it is clear that federal law controls and any conflicting state statute is void. Therefore, the amended state statute is preempted and without effect under the Supremacy Clause. The Appellant is requesting the court to reverse the Department's denial of his grievance, declare S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D) preempted by 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c) and order the Department to pay him the prevailing wage for all PIECP work performed from May 21, 2024 to the present." (R. p. 3).

After rehearsing the background of the case, in the "DISCUSSION" section of the Final Order, the ALC stated, "South Carolina courts have previously held that **certain** federal laws do not apply to inmate workers, but rather the state statutory scheme governs the Department's conduct. See South Carolina Dept. of Corrs. v. Cartrette, 387 S.C. 640, 694 S.E.2d 18 (Ct. App. 2010)(holding that the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act does not apply to inmate workers, but rather statutes governing the prison industries program compel the Department to ensure inmate workers receive the same pay rates and employment conditions as their non-inmate peers.). Inmates working in a prison industries program have a state-created liberty interest in having the Department pay them according to the statutory scheme governing the program. Torrence v. S.C. Dept. of Corrs., 433 S.C. 224, 226, 857 S.E.2d 549, 550 (2021). Accordingly, the current statutory mandate requires the Department to pay inmates not less than the federal minimum wage." (emphasis added)(R. pp. 4 - 5).

The ALC cited Cartrette, supra to hold that "federal laws do not apply to inmate workers." But Cartrette, held only that the Fair Labor Standard Act ("FLSA") does not apply to inmates because they are not "employees" within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e). That case concerned employment law, not federal commerce statutes.

The PIECP, by contrast, is a federal criminal and interstate commerce statute—not an employment statute. Its prevailing wage mandate does not depend on "employees" status but rather on a federal condition of certification under 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c). As such, the rationale in Cartrette concerning the FLSA's non-applicability to inmates has no bearing on the enforceability of a specific federal statutory mandate enacted under Title 18.

Additionally, Cartrette, did not address federal preemption. Thus, Cartrette does not absolve SCDC of compliance with 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c). The ALC's reliance on Cartrette to reject the applicability of 18 U.S.C. § 1761 (c) is a fundamental misapplication of law and a reversible error under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(d). Because the ALC decided the case on incorrect legal grounds reversal is required.

**III. THE ALC ERRED BY REFUSING TO ORDER SUPPLEMENTATION OF THE RECORD WITH ESSENTIAL DOCUMENTS, THEN FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PRESENTING A SUFFICIENT RECORD TO ALLOW APPELLATE REVIEW**

Under Rule 58 of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (SCALC Rules), "[w]here applicable, the record on appeal shall consist of: ... all evidence received or considered, including copies of all relevant sentencing sheets in sentence calculation matters, and copies of specific policies relied upon by the agency ...". On July 31, 2025, SCDC served a copy of the Record on Appeal upon the Appellant, containing only both Appellant's Step One and Step Two Grievance, along with both grievances' response. (R. pp. 10 - 15).

On August 11, 2025, Appellant filed his Motion to Compel Respondent to

Supplement the Record Due to its Incompleteness and Extension of Time to File Brief ("Motion for Supplement"). In his Motion for Supplement, Appellant requested that the Court order SCDC, in accordance with SCALC Rule 58 to provide a complete Record by supplementing the Record with the following relevant documents: (1) Post-settlement PIECP payroll history showing number of hours worked and hourly wages paid for his work; (2) wage data provided by the DEW used by SCDC to determine the prevailing wage; (3) Job Description and Standard Occupational Classification ("SOC") Code documents relied upon in setting Appellant's wage rate; and (4) SCDC and Shaw contractual agreement, wherein SCDC agreed to pay PIECP inmate workers a wage consistent with wage data provided by DEW on an annual basis. (R. p. 44). In his Motion for Supplement, Appellant asserted that omission of the aforementioned documents prejudices his ability to fully present his case and materially impairs the Court's ability to conduct a meaningful review. (R. p. 45). By order, dated September 5, 2025, the ALC denied Appellant's Motion for Supplement. (R. pp. 6 - 7). Thus, the ALC denied Appellant the evidence needed to satisfy his burden of proving prevailing wage entitlement, and then penalized him for not meeting that burden. Specifically, stating in its November 12, 2025 "Final Order", "Appellant has not met his burden to show that the Department has erred. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647 (1998)(placing on appellant the burden of presenting a sufficient record to allow appellate review)." (R. p. 5). It is arbitrary and capricious for a court to: (1) deny a party access to essential evidence, and then (2) penalize that party for lacking that evidence. The ALC's actions violated S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(e) and (f) and warrants reversal.

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