RECEIVED

APR 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Administrative Law Judge S. Phillip Lenski

ALC Case No. 25-ALJ-04-0147-AP
Appellate Case No. 2025-002443

VINCENT ALLEN, # 194611,

APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS**

Christina Catoe Bigelow
Deputy General Counsel
Office of General Counsel
South Carolina Dept. of Corrections
Post Office Box 21787
Columbia, South Carolina 29221
(803) 896-8508

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE DEPARTMENT'S AGENCY DECISION WHERE APPELLANT PREVIOUSLY SETTLED ANY AND ALL CLAIMS PERTAINING TO PREVAILING WAGES; WHERE FEDERAL LAW DOES NOT PREEMPT THE STATE LAW WHICH NOW PERMITS INMATES TO BE PAID THE FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE; AND WHERE EVEN IF FEDERAL LAW PREEMPTS STATE LAW, IT AFFORDS APPELLANT NO RELIEF BECAUSE HE HAS NO PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION UNDER FEDERAL CRIMINAL LAW.

Background

In Torrence v. S.C. Dep't of Corrections, this Court held that the Department was required to pay inmates working in qualifying Prison Industries jobs the "prevailing wage." 433 S.C. 633, 646-47, 861 S.E.2d 36, 43-45 (Ct. App. 2021). This Court relied on the language of S.C. Code § 24-3-430 in reaching this decision. Id. at 43-44. At that time, S.C. Code § 24-3-430 stated that "[n]o inmate participating in the program may earn *less than the prevailing wage* for work of similar nature in the private sector." Id. at 44 (citing S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D) (2007)(emphasis added)). However, after the Torrence decision, on May 21, 2024, S.C. Code § 24-3-430 was amended to state that "no inmate participating in the program may earn less than an hourly rate equal to the *federal minimum wage* for work of similar nature in the private sector." S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D) (2024) (emphasis added). Thus, S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D) now explicitly permits the Department to pay inmates the federal minimum wage rather than the prevailing wage.

Appellant's Claim to Prevailing Wages is Barred by his Previous Settlement

In this appeal, Appellant is requesting to be paid the prevailing wage for his current work in Prison Industries. However, on September 9, 2024 – after S.C. Code 24-3-430 was amended – Appellant signed a settlement agreement agreeing to settle any and all claims relating to prevailing wage payments. (See R. p. 47-48). The agreement specifically stated as follows:

Inmate hereby declares that the terms of this Final Release have been completely read, fully understood, and voluntarily accepted for the purpose of making a full and final compromise and settlement of **any and all claims and or losses against SCDC** and any and all firms, persons, or corporations liable or who might be claimed to be liable. Inmate understands that this express purpose of this Release is to **forever preclude any further or additional claims** by or on behalf of Inmate arising out of or in any related to Inmate's participation in the Prison Industries Program, including any Prison Industries Enhancement Program ("PIE" or "PIECP"), and it is further understood and agreed that **this Final Release may be pled as a bar to any claim of any kind whatsoever** which may be asserted by Inmate or on his behalf in connection with the aforementioned participation in the Prison Industries Program.

R. p. 47 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Appellant very clearly waived all past and future claims relating to prevailing wages by agreeing to the terms of the settlement and accepting the settlement funds. The agreement serves as an absolute bar to his claim in this case. Therefore, Appellant's current claim for prevailing wages was properly denied and the ALC's decision below should be affirmed on this basis.

Scope and Application of 18 U.S.C. § 1761

Even assuming, for argument's sake, that Appellant's claim was not barred by his settlement, his claim that the amended version of S.C. Code 24-3-430 is preempted by federal law is without merit. In the Ashurst-Sumners Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1761-62, Congress criminalized the transportation of prison-made goods in interstate commerce. Section 1761(a) of the Ashurst-Sumners Act provides:

Whoever knowingly transports in interstate commerce . . . any goods, wares, or merchandise manufactured, produced, or mined, wholly or in part by convicts or prisoners ... shall be fined ... or imprisoned not more than two years or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1761(a).

Section 1761 was originally enacted in 1935 as part of the Ashurst-Sumners Act. 49 Stat. 494 (1935). As originally enacted, the statute prohibited interstate transportation of all convict-made goods, except those manufactured in federal correctional institutions for use by the federal government. The original purpose of the statute was to protect private business from unfair

competition from low-cost, convict-made goods. McMaster v. State of Minn., 819 F. Supp. 1429, 1440 (D. Minn. 1993), aff'd, 30 F.3d 976 (8th Cir. 1994); see also Wentworth v. Solem, 548 F.2d 773, 775 (8th Cir. 1977).

Section 1761 was amended in 1948 to exempt from coverage agricultural commodities, parts for farm machinery, and commodities manufactured for use by state or local governments. McMaster, 819 F. Supp. at 1440. The statute was amended again by the Justice System Improvement Act of 1979 which authorized the federal law enforcement assistance administration to designate seven pilot projects in which inmates would produce goods that would be exempt from the prohibition on the transportation of convict-made goods; the exemption was conditioned on inmates working voluntarily and being paid prevailing wages for their labor. Id.

Under this statutory authority, the Prison Industry Enhancement Certification Program (“PIE program”) was established. The PIE program was expanded by the Justice Assistance Act of 1984, which increased the number of authorized pilot projects from seven to twenty. The Senate Report accompanying the 1984 amendment indicated that the PIE program was expanded because “the designated projects have been successful in teaching inmates marketable job skills, reducing the need for their families to receive public assistance, decreasing the net cost of operating correctional facilities, and breaking the recidivist cycle.” Id. (quoting S.Rep. No. 98–225, reprinted in 1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3182, 3463).

In 1990, Congress amended Section 1761 again to expand the PIE program to fifty non-federal prison work pilot projects. McMaster, 819 F. Supp. at 1440. The House Report accompanying the amendment outlined the benefits of the program:

The benefits of this program are numerous, with the reduction of the cost of incarceration being the most notable. It is also an effective way of occupying the growing prison population and reducing idleness, while at the same time expanding

the available supply of goods and services. For the victims of crime, it is a means of partial reparation. For the inmates, the program provides them with a marketable skill, offering a chance of rehabilitation, as well as a way of meeting financial obligations while incarcerated.

Id. at 1441 (quoting H.R.Rep. No. 101–681(I), reprinted in 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6472, 6608–09 (1990)).

Section 1761(c) thus now provides that criminal penalties will not apply:

(c) . . . to goods, wares, or merchandise manufactured, produced, or mined by convicts or prisoners who—

(1) are participating in--one of not more than 50 prison work pilot projects designated by the Director of the Bureau of Justice Assistance;

[and]

(2) have, in connection with such work, *received wages at a rate which is not less than that paid for work of a similar nature in the locality in which the work was performed*

18 U.S.C. § 1761(c)(2) (emphasis added).

Section 1761(c)(2)'s wage requirement is known as the “prevailing wage.” See Prison Industry Enhancement Certification Program Guideline, 64 FR 17000-01, Section III(b). The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has observed “[the PIE program] requires that inmates be paid at least the prevailing local rate for their work, with the FLSA (Fair Labor Standards Act) minimum wage as a floor.” Harker v. State Use Indus., 990 F.2d 131, 134 (4th Cir. 1993). The Fourth Circuit further recognized this “exemption creates a quid pro quo that allows prison-made goods to enter the open market when manufacturers have paid inmates *at least the minimum wage* to ensure that no unfair competition occurs.” Id. (emphasis added).

Significantly, federal courts have held that because 18 U.S.C. § 1761 is a criminal statute designed to protect private business from competition from goods produced with inexpensive convict labor, Section 1761 does not create a private cause of action under which an inmate may

assert a claim to be paid a certain wage under the statute. Wentworth, 548 F.2d at 775 (holding Section 1761 is a criminal statute that “do[es] not expressly create a private right of action”); see also McMaster v. State of Minn., 30 F.3d 976, 981 (8th Cir. 1994); McMaster, 819 F. Supp. at 1439.

Further, federal courts have emphasized that the prevailing wage provision set forth in Section 1761(c) does not create enforceable federal rights in the favor of inmates because the benefits of meaningful prison industry programs in safeguarding against unfair competition and in reducing inmate idleness, recidivism rates, and the costs of incarceration “accrue not specifically to inmates, but to prison administrators and to society in general.” McMaster, 819 F. Supp. at 1441. Additionally, “although the prevailing wage provisions were intended to help inmates meet their financial obligations while incarcerated, it is again society in general that benefits from the inmates’ ability to do so: society gains if prisoners pay taxes, support their families, and compensate their victims.” Id. For these reasons, because the prevailing wage provision was not enacted for inmates’ “especial benefit,” they may not enforce the provisions of Section 1761(c) as a federal right. Id.; see also McMaster, 30 F.3d at 981-83.

South Carolina’s Inmate Wage Requirements for Prison Industry Programs

In 1995, South Carolina’s General Assembly enacted legislation, now codified in S.C. Code § 24-3-430, which authorizes “[t]he Director of the Department of Corrections [to] establish a program involving the use of inmate labor by a nonprofit organization or in private industry for the manufacturing and processing of goods, wares, or merchandise or the provision of services or another business or commercial enterprise considered by the director to enhance the general welfare of South Carolina.” This legislation authorizes the Department to use inmate labor in private industry. Adkins v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 360 S.C. 413, 416, 602 S.E.2d 51, 53 (2004).

Previously, Section 24-3-430(D) provided that “[n]o inmate participating in the program may earn less than the prevailing wage for work of similar nature in the private sector.” This subsection was amended on May 21, 2024 to provide that “[n]o inmate participating in the program may earn less than an hourly rate equal to the federal minimum wage for work of similar nature in the private sector.” S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D).

It is this amended provision with which Appellant takes issue and argues conflicts with 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c)’s exemption to the prohibition of interstate transportation of all convict-made goods for those goods produced by convicts participating in a PIE program and who “received wages at a rate which is not less than that paid for work of a similar nature in the locality in which the work was performed.”

Federal Preemption Doctrine Analysis

“The preemption doctrine is rooted in the Supremacy Clause¹ of the United States Constitution and provides that any state law that conflicts with federal law is ‘without effect.’” Priester v. Cromer, 401 S.C. 38, 43, 736 S.E.2d 249, 252 (2012) (*quoting* Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc., 505 U.S. 504, 516 (1992)). In applying the Supremacy Clause, courts “start with the assumption that the historic police powers of the States [are] not to be superseded by [a] Federal Act unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of Congress.” Medtronic v. Lohr, 518 U.S. 470, 485 (1996) (citing Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp., 331 U.S. 218, 230 (1947)); *see also* CSX Transp., Inc. v. Easterwood, 507 U.S. 658, 664 (1993) (“In the interest of avoiding unintended encroachment

¹ The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution provides that federal law “shall be the supreme Law of the Land ... any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding.” U.S. CONST. ART. VI.

on the authority of the states, however, a court interpreting a federal statute pertaining to a subject traditionally governed by state law will be reluctant to find pre-emption.”).

Therefore, “the purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone’ of pre-emption analysis.” Priester, 401 S.C. at 43, 736 S.E.2d at 252 (quoting Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 516). “To discern Congress[’s] intent [the Court] examine[s] the explicit statutory language and the structure and purpose of the statute.” Priester, 401 S.C. at 43, 736 S.E.2d at 252 (quoting Ingersoll-Rand Co. v. McClendon, 498 U.S. 133, 138 (1990)). The issue of whether a federal statute preempts state law is a question of law. Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store, 385 S.C. 520, 526, 684 S.E.2d 769, 772 (Ct. App. 2009).

A federal law may either expressly or impliedly preempt a state law. Congress may expressly preempt state law through specific language clearly stating its intent. On the other hand, implied preemption occurs through “field preemption” or “implied conflict preemption.” “Implied conflict preemption occurs in one of two ways—either where compliance with both federal and state regulations is physically impossible or where the state law ‘stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.’” Priester, 401 S.C. at 44, 736 S.E.2d at 252 (quoting Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52, 67 (1941)); see also City of Cayce v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co., 391 S.C. 395, 401, 706 S.E.2d 6, 8 (2011) (“In the absence of an express congressional command, state law is preempted if the law actually conflicts with federal law, or if federal law so thoroughly occupies the legislative field as to make reasonable the inference that Congress has left no room for the states to supplement it.”).

Thus, “[u]nder the principle of federal law supremacy, there are three ways that federal law can preempt state law: (1) where Congress makes its intent to preempt state law explicit in statutory language; (2) where state law regulates conduct in a field that Congress intends for the federal

government to occupy exclusively; or (3) where there is an actual conflict between state and federal law.” City of Cayce, 391 S.C. at 401, 706 S.E.2d at 9 (internal citation omitted).

Under these principles, 18 U.S.C. § 1761 does not preempt S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D). First, Congress included no specific language in 18 U.S.C. § 1761 expressly preempting South Carolina’s ability to enact its own statutory provisions for the creation of prison industry programs within the state and the ability to enact state wage laws for inmates. Second, there is no indication in 18 U.S.C. § 1761 that Congress intended the federal government to occupy exclusively the field of wages for inmates incarcerated in state prison systems. Finally, as to Appellant’s claim for increased wages, there is no conflict between South Carolina’s payment of the federal minimum wage pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-3-430(D) and the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c) because, as noted above, Appellant has no enforceable right to any certain wage under 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c). McMaster, 30 F.3d at 981-83; Wentworth, 548 F.2d at 775; McMaster, 819 F. Supp. at 1439.

Section 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c) creates voluntary federal PIE programs for which states may participate under certain guidelines. It does not create any enforceable rights of inmates against states as to wages paid. Under these circumstances, this statutory provision does not, as a matter of law, preempt South Carolina’s statutory inmate wage provisions.

Accordingly, Appellant only has a state-created statutory right to a certain wage. Under the current S.C. Code 24-3-430(D), that right is to be paid the federal minimum wage. See, e.g., Brown v. South Carolina Dept. of Health & Env’tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (“An appellate court cannot construe a statute without regard to its plain meaning and may not resort to a forced interpretation in an attempt to expand or limit the scope of a statute.”). Additionally, “[u]nless there is a compelling reason to the contrary, appellate courts defer to an administrative agency’s interpretation with respect to the statutes and trusted to its administration or its own

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